Table of Contents

Preamble			5
1. Membe	ershi	p	5
1.1. Co	mpo	sition	5
1.1.1.	Elec	ted	5
1.1.1	l.1	Faculty Members – Faculty Representatives	5
1.1.1	1.2	Faculty Members – At-Large Faculty Representatives	5
1.1.2.	App	ointed	5
1.1.3.	Nor	n-Voting	6
1.1.4.	Offi	cers	6
1.2. Te	rms (of Office	6
1.2.1.	Elec	ted	6
1.2.1	l.1.	Faculty	6
1.2.1	1.2.	Staff	6
1.2.1	1.3.	Students	6
1.2.2.	App	ointed	7
1.2.3.	Nor	n-Voting	7
1.2.4.	Offi	cers	7
1.2.4	1.1.	Election of Officers	7
1.2.4	1.2.	Removal of Officers	7
1.3. Ro	les a	nd Duties of All Members	8
1.3.1.	Atte	endance at Council Meetings	8
1.3.1 Mee		Arrangements in the Event a Member is Unable to Attend a	
1.3.2.	Dut	y to the College	8
1.3.3.	Res	ponsibility to Represent Constituents	8
1.3.4.	Par	ticipation on Committees	8
1.3.5.	Avo	id Conflicts of Interest	8
1.3.6.	Ren	noval of Voting Members	9
1.4. Sp		Roles and Duties of Officers	
141	Tak	ing Positions on Rehalf of the Council	Q

		1.1 Taking Positions on Matters Within the College – Prior Mandate fr ncil	
		1.2 Taking Positions on Matters Within the College Without Prior date from Council – Disclosure and Vote of Endorsement	9
		1.3 Taking Positions on Matters Within the College Without Prior date from Council – Failure of Vote of Endorsement	10
	1.4.1	1.4 Confirmation of Chair's Ability to Take Positions as Individual	10
	1.4.2.	Setting Council Agenda	10
2.	Secreta	ary to the Council	11
	2.1. Ap	pointment	11
	2.1.1.	Authority to Appoint	11
	2.1.2.	Eligibility for Appointment	11
	2.2. Du	ties of the Secretary	11
	2.2.1.	General	11
	2.2.2.	Specific Duties	11
3.	Meetin	gs	11
	3.1. Ge	neral Meetings	11
	3.1.1.	Frequency of Meetings	
	3.1.2.	Meeting Schedule	12
	3.1.3.	Cancelling Meetings	12
	3.2. Sp	ecial Meetings	12
	3.2.1.	Scheduling Special Meetings	12
	3.2.2.	Notice and Agenda	
	3.2.3.	No Changes to Agenda at Special Meeting	12
	3.3. Op	en Meetings	13
	3.4. Ag	enda	
	3.4.1	Agenda-Setting Authority	13
	3.4.2	Agenda Item Categories	
	3.4.3	General Requirement for Placement of Item on Agenda: Prior Review Relevant Council Committee	
	3.4.3	3.1 Educational Policies Committee	14
	3 /1 3	2.2 Curriculum Committee	14

3.4.	3.3 Programs Committee	15
3.4.	3.4 Admissions Advisory Committee	15
3.4.	3.5 Educational Excellence Committee	16
3.4.	3.6 Other - Chair of Council	16
3.4.4	Exception – Items Added to Agenda at Discretion of Chair	16
3.5. M	eeting Procedures	16
3.5.1	Rules of Order	16
3.5.2	Forum for Meetings – In-Person or Electronic	17
3.5.3	Presence at Meetings	17
3.5.	3.1 Presence at In-Person Meetings	17
3.5.	3.2 Presence at Electronic Meetings	17
3.5.4	Quorum	17
3.5.5	Consideration of Items by Council	17
3.5.6	Motions (Decision-Cycle)	17
3.5.	6.1 Regular-Cycle Motions (Two-Meeting Cycle)	18
3.5.	6.2 Short-Cycle Motions (One-Meeting Cycle)	18
3.5.7	Voting at Council Meetings	18
3.6 Educ	cation Council Advice to the College Board	19
3.6.1	Advice Requested by College Board	19
3.6.2	Advice Given at Direction of the Council	19
4. Comm	ittees	19
4.1. Ge	eneral	19
4.1.1	Authority of Council to Establish and Empower Committees	19
4.1.2	Committees Only to Advise and Support Council	20
4.1.3	Council to Set Terms of Reference	20
4.2. St	anding Committees	20
4.2.1.	Standing Committees and their Functions	20
4.2.	1.1 Educational Policies Committee	20
4.2.	1.2 Curriculum Committee	21
4.2.	1.3 Programs Committee	21
4.2.	1.4 Admissions Advisory Committee	22

DOUGLASCOLLEGE

Douglas College Education Council Bylaws

4.2.1	.5 Educational Excellence Committee	23
4.2.1	.6. Academic Appeals Tribunal	23
4.2.2.	Process for Establishment of Standing Committees	23
4.2.3.	Membership of Standing Committees	23
4.2.3	.1 General	23
4.2.3	.2 Exception – Admissions Advisory Committee	23
4.2.3	.3 Exception – Academic Appeals Tribunal	24
4.2.4.	Rules of Order	24
4.3. Ad	Hoc Committees	24
4.3.1.	Authority to Establish Ad Hoc Committees	24
4.3.2.	Mandate of Ad Hoc Committees	24
4.3.3.	Membership of Ad Hoc Committees	24
4.3.4.	Rules of Order for Ad Hoc Committees	24
4.3.5.	Dissolution of Ad Hoc Committees	25
5. Amend	ment and Review of Bylaws	25
5.1 Amen	dment of Bylaws	25
5.2 Revie	w of Bylaws	25
Appendix 1	- Conflict of Interest	26
Appendix 2	- (Example) Committee Terms of Reference	29
Appendix 3	- Educational Policies Committee Terms of Reference	32
Appendix 4	- Curriculum Committee Terms of Reference	35
Appendix 5	- Programs Committee Terms of Reference	38
Appendix 6	- Admissions Advisory Committee Terms of Reference	41
Appendix 7	- Educational Excellence Committee Terms of Reference	44
Appendix 8	- Academic Appeals Tribunal Terms of Reference	47

Preamble

The education council (the "council") is a governing body of the college that, as authorized by the *College and Institute Act*, and subject to policies and directives of the Minister of Advanced Education, has the power and duty to set academic policies, criteria and curriculum for the college and to advise the college board regarding certain board functions having an effect on academic matters.

1. Membership

1.1. Composition

In accordance with the *College and Institute Act*, there are a total of twenty-three members of the council including twenty voting members and three non-voting members.

1.1.1. Elected

There are sixteen elected voting members of the council, consisting of ten faculty members elected by faculty members, four students elected by students, and two support staff elected by support staff.

1.1.1.1 Faculty Members – Faculty Representatives

Eight faculty members, one from each of the six Faculties at the College and one each from Learning Resources and Student Services, are elected by their respective faculties or areas to serve as members of the council.

1.1.1.2 Faculty Members – At-Large Faculty Representatives

Two faculty members are elected by faculty on a college-wide basis as members of the council.

The two at-large faculty representatives are not both from Learning Resources, Student Services or the same Faculty.

1.1.2. Appointed

There are four voting members of the council who are educational administrators appointed by the college president.

1.1.3. Non-Voting

There are three non-voting members of the council, consisting of the college president, the college registrar, and the college board liaison to the council.

1.1.4. Officers

One voting member of the council shall serve as chair of the council and another voting member of the council shall serve as vice-chair of the council.

1.2. Terms of Office

1.2.1. Elected

The college registrar, after consulting with the chief officers of the representative groups and the college president, makes rules for the elections of members to the council, and the registrar conducts the elections.

1.2.1.1. Faculty

Faculty members elected to the council serve a two-year term and may be elected to further terms.

The terms of the two faculty members at large are staggered with one faculty member at large beginning their term in one year, and the other faculty member at large beginning their term in the following year.

1.2.1.2. Staff

Support staff elected to the council serve a two-year term and may be elected to further terms.

1.2.1.3. Students

Students elected to the council serve a one-year term and may be elected to further terms.

1.2.2. Appointed

Educational administrators appointed to the council serve a two-year term and may be appointed to further terms.

1.2.3. Non-Voting

The college president is a non-voting member of the council.

The college registrar is a non-voting member of the council.

The college board liaison to the council is a non-voting member of the council.

1.2.4. Officers

1.2.4.1. Election of Officers

The chair and vice-chair of the council shall each be elected by a majority of votes cast by voting council members at the May council meeting each year, shall serve a one-year term as chair and vice-chair subject to Bylaw 1.2.4.2, and may be elected to further terms.

1.2.4.2. Removal of Officers

A chair may be removed from office by a two-thirds majority of votes cast by the voting members of the council.

A vice-chair may be removed from office by a two-thirds majority of votes cast by the voting members of the council.

Any vote to remove a chair or vice-chair shall be considered a decision item and take place only after adding the matter as an item of council business according to Bylaw 3.4, and after being presented as a motion to the council according to Bylaw 3.5.6

If a chair or vice-chair is removed from office, the voting members shall immediately elect a new chair or vice-chair to serve the remainder of the term of the chair or vice-chair who has been removed.

1.3. Roles and Duties of All Members

1.3.1. Attendance at Council Meetings

Members of the council shall attend all meetings of the council.

1.3.1.1 Arrangements in the Event a Member is Unable to Attend a Council Meeting

If a voting member of the council is unable to attend a meeting of the council they may appoint another person to appear at a meeting of the council as a guest to make representations to the council on behalf of the absent member, but the guest shall not have a vote.

1.3.2. Duty to the College

Members of the council have a duty to always participate freely in council deliberations and voting, and ultimately exercise their best judgment with a view to what is in the best interest of the college.

1.3.3. Responsibility to Represent Constituents

Elected members of the council have a responsibility to communicate information from the council to their constituents and to communicate information and the views of their constituents to the council.

1.3.4. Participation on Committees

Every voting member of the council shall serve on at least one council committee.

1.3.5. Avoid Conflicts of Interest

Members of the council shall avoid any conflict of interest, as defined in Appendix I of these bylaws, in relation to any matter coming before the council.

If a conflict of interest or an alleged conflict of interest arises regarding a member of the council, in relation to a matter coming before the council, the council members shall follow the procedure

specified in Appendix I to address the conflict of interest or alleged conflict of interest.

If a conflict of interest or an alleged conflict of interest arises regarding a member of the council after the council has already considered the matter to which the conflict of interest or alleged conflict of interest relates, the council may reconsider that matter following the procedure specified in Appendix 1.

1.3.6. Removal of Voting Members

A voting member of the council who is not present, as defined in Bylaw 3.5.3, for more than three council meetings in one academic year shall cease to be a member of the council.

The council may vote to reinstate a council member who has ceased to be a member under this provision.

Any vote to reinstate a member of the council shall be considered a decision item and take place only after adding the matter as an item of council business according to Bylaw 3.4, and after being presented as a motion to the council according to Bylaw 3.5.6.

1.4. Specific Roles and Duties of Officers

1.4.1. Taking Positions on Behalf of the Council

1.4.1.1 Taking Positions on Matters Within the College – Prior Mandate from Council

The chair of the council shall not, while representing themselves as the chair of the council, take positions on matters within the college, without, wherever practicable, first receiving an explicit mandate to do so by a majority vote of the council.

1.4.1.2 Taking Positions on Matters Within the College Without Prior Mandate from Council – Disclosure and Vote of Endorsement

If the chair of the council, having represented themselves as the chair of the council, has taken a position on a matter before

any committee, governing body or group within the college without having first received a mandate from the council pursuant to Bylaw 1.4.1.1, the chair shall at the next council meeting disclose to the council that they took the position on that matter. The council shall then conduct a vote to endorse the position taken by the chair of the council.

1.4.1.3 Taking Positions on Matters Within the College Without Prior Mandate from Council – Failure of Vote of Endorsement

If the council does not, by a majority vote of the council, endorse the position taken by the chair of the council, the chair shall communicate this lack of endorsement to any parties with whom they communicated their position on the matter in question.

1.4.1.4 Confirmation of Chair's Ability to Take Positions as Individual

Bylaws 1.4.1.1 - 1.4.1.3 do not in any way limit the ability of the chair to take positions as an individual if they clearly state that they are taking a position as an individual and not on behalf of the council.

1.4.2. Setting Council Agenda

The chair of the council, or the vice-chair when acting as chair, shall set the agenda of council meetings and chair council meetings, and in particular shall ensure that the requirements of Bylaw 3.4 have been satisfied when setting the agenda of a council meeting.

2. Secretary to the Council

2.1. Appointment

2.1.1. Authority to Appoint

The secretary to the council shall be appointed by the college president.

2.1.2. Eligibility for Appointment

The college president may appoint as secretary to the council any person who is not a member of the council.

2.2. Duties of the Secretary

2.2.1. General

The secretary to the council shall provide administrative support to the council.

2.2.2. Specific Duties

The specific duties of the secretary to the council include:

- (a) providing notice of council meetings;
- (b) administering all votes occurring at or relating to meetings of the council;
- (c) assisting with the formulation of the agenda of council meetings;
- (d) keeping minutes of council meetings; and
- (e) managing records and other documents relating to council matters.

3. Meetings

3.1. General Meetings

3.1.1. Frequency of Meetings

The council shall have a general meeting in every month, from September through June, each academic year.

3.1.2. Meeting Schedule

The annual general meeting schedule of the council shall be approved by the council in the May general meeting of the council each year.

In the event of an unforeseeable closure of the college any meeting scheduled to occur during the closure shall be deemed postponed and the council shall reschedule that meeting for a later date.

3.1.3. Cancelling Meetings

The council may, by majority vote, cancel any scheduled general meeting.

3.2. Special Meetings

3.2.1. Scheduling Special Meetings

The chair may schedule a special meeting outside the general meeting schedule set under Bylaw 3.1.2.

The council may, with the approval of a majority of the votes cast by the voting members of the council, schedule a special meeting outside the general meeting schedule set under Bylaw 3.1.2.

3.2.2. Notice and Agenda

All council members must receive at least two business days notice of any special meeting, and the notice must include the agenda for the special meeting.

This notice requirement may be waived with the approval of twothirds of all voting members of the council.

3.2.3. No Changes to Agenda at Special Meeting

There shall be no changes to the agenda for the special meeting at the special meeting.

3.3. Open Meetings

All general and special meetings shall be open to all persons, subject to a motion passed by a majority of the council to move any agenda item to a portion of the meeting to be held with only council members and the secretary to the council present ("in camera").

3.4. Agenda

3.4.1 Agenda-Setting Authority

The agenda for any council meeting shall be set by the chair of the council after consulting with the vice-chair, president and any other person the chair considers necessary.

The requirement for the chair to consult before setting the agenda for a council meeting does not derogate in any way from the chair's authority to set the agenda for a council meeting.

3.4.2 Agenda Item Categories

The chair of the council shall designate and place each agenda item into one of four categories: decision, decision (joint approval), advice, or information.

A decision agenda item is one that comes within the council's decision-making authority under section 24 of the *College and Institute Act*.

A decision (joint approval) item is one that comes within the council's joint decision-making authority with the college board under section 25 of the *College and Institute Act*.

An advice agenda item is one that comes within the council's mandate to provide advice to the college board under section 23 of the *College* and *Institute Act*.

An information agenda item is one that is placed on the agenda for information only and does not require the council to vote on the item or take any other action.

3.4.3 General Requirement for Placement of Item on Agenda: Prior Review by Relevant Council Committee

Any item to be placed on the agenda shall be submitted to the relevant council committee, or the chair of the council, as stated in Bylaws 3.4.3.1-3.4.3.6 for review before it may be placed on the agenda of a council meeting.

3.4.3.1 Educational Policies Committee

Items relating to the following subjects shall be submitted to the Educational Policies Committee for review before being placed on the agenda of a council meeting:

- (a) policies concerning examinations and evaluation of student performance;¹
- (b) policies concerning student withdrawal from courses, programs and the college;²
- (c) criteria for academic standing, academic standards and the grading system;³ and
- (d) policies and procedures for appeals by students on academic matters.⁴

3.4.3.2 Curriculum Committee

Items relating to the following subjects shall be submitted to the Curriculum Committee for review before being placed on the agenda of a Council meeting:

- (a) a proposal for a new course;5
- (b) a change to an existing course;6
- (c) a cancellation of an existing course;⁷

¹ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(a) decision-making authority of Education Council.

² College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(b) decision-making authority of Education Council.

³ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(c) decision-making authority of Education Council.

⁴ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(e) decision-making authority of Education Council.

⁵ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council.

⁶ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council.

⁷ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(e) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

- (d) assessment of a course from another institution, university or college to determine whether the course is equivalent to a course at the college;8 and
- (e) assessment of a course from one part of the college to determine whether the course is equivalent to a course at another part of the college.⁹

3.4.3.3 Programs Committee

Items relating to the following subjects shall be submitted to the Programs Committee for review before being placed on the agenda of a council meeting:

- (a) a proposal for a new program; 10
- (b) a change to an existing program; 11
- (c) a cancellation of an existing program; 12
- (d) assessment of the curriculum of a program from another institution, university or college to determine whether the curriculum of that program is equivalent to the curriculum of a program at the college; ¹³ and
- (e) assessment of the curriculum of a program from one part of the college to determine whether that curriculum of that program is equivalent to the curriculum of a program at another part of the college.¹⁴

3.4.3.4 Admissions Advisory Committee

Items relating to the following subjects shall be submitted to the Admissions Advisory Committee for review before being placed on the agenda of a council meeting:

⁸ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

 $^{^9}$ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

¹⁰ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(b) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council (IF Re: new program] OR College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council (IF re: course approval only).

¹¹ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(b) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council (IF Re: new program] OR College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council (IF re: course approval only).

¹² College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(e) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

¹³ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

¹⁴ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

- (a) any aspect of a proposal for a new program that relates to program or college admissions; 15 and
- (b) any aspect of a proposal for a change to an existing program that relates to program or college admissions. ¹⁶

3.4.3.5 Educational Excellence Committee

Items relating to setting criteria for, or the awarding of, educational excellence awards shall be submitted to the Educational Excellence Committee for review before being placed on the agenda of a council meeting.¹⁷

3.4.3.6 Other - Chair of Council

Any other items that do not fall within the purview of a committee under Bylaws 3.4.3.1 – 3.4.3.5, including items brought to the council for information only, shall be submitted to the chair for review before being placed on the agenda of a council meeting.

3.4.4 Exception – Items Added to Agenda at Discretion of Chair

If there are extenuating circumstances, or it is otherwise impracticable to meet the requirements of Bylaw 3.4.3, a proposed agenda item may be submitted to the chair of the council for possible placement on the agenda of a council meeting.

3.5. Meeting Procedures

3.5.1 Rules of Order

In conducting its meetings, the council shall be guided by Robert's Rules of Order, subject to the provisions of these bylaws.

¹⁵ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(m) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

¹⁶ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(m) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

¹⁷ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(d) decision-making authority of Education Council.

3.5.2 Forum for Meetings – In-Person or Electronic

Council meetings shall normally be conducted in-person but they may be conducted electronically at the discretion of the chair of the council in unusual or extraordinary circumstances.

3.5.3 Presence at Meetings

3.5.3.1 Presence at In-Person Meetings

A voting member of the council member shall be considered present at an in-person meeting if they:

- (a) are physically present at the meeting; or
- (b) are connected to the meeting by electronic means facilitated by the council secretary.

3.5.3.2 Presence at Electronic Meetings

A voting member of the council member shall be considered present at an electronic meeting if they are connected to the meeting by electronic means facilitated by the council secretary.

3.5.4 Quorum

A quorum of any council meeting shall be achieved by having half of the voting members of the council being present in accordance with Bylaw 3.5.3.

The council shall not conduct any business without quorum.

3.5.5 Consideration of Items by Council

The council may only consider an item if it has been placed on the council meeting agenda in accordance with Bylaw 3.4.

3.5.6 Motions (Decision-Cycle)

All agenda items categorized as being for decision, decision (joint-approval) or advice may only be approved by motion of the council.

3.5.6.1 Regular-Cycle Motions (Two-Meeting Cycle)

A regular-cycle motion is the default motion for council meetings and receives council consideration over the course of two council meetings.

Notice of a regular-cycle motion shall be given at the council meeting one month before the council is to vote on the regular-cycle motion.

The council shall vote on a regular-cycle motion at the council meeting one month after notice of the regular-cycle motion was given.

The council may approve a regular-cycle motion by a vote of the council.

3.5.6.2 Short-Cycle Motions (One-Meeting Cycle)

A short-cycle motion is a motion that receives full consideration and a vote at one council meeting.

An agenda item shall only be considered by short-cycle motion if the council approves consideration of a short-cycle motion by two-thirds majority of the votes cast by the voting members of the council.

If the council approves consideration of an agenda item by short-cycle motion, the council may then approve the short-cycle motion by a vote of the council.

3.5.7 Voting at Council Meetings

Approval of a motion at a council meeting shall be determined by votes cast by the voting members of the council present at the meeting.

The approval of the council shall be indicated by a simple majority of the votes cast at the meeting, subject to any other provision in these bylaws.

An abstention shall not count as the casting of a vote.

3.6 Education Council Advice to the College Board

3.6.1 Advice Requested by College Board

If, having received a request for advice from the college board, the council passes a motion to provide advice to the college board, the chair of the council shall provide that advice to the college board in writing, and shall include the following information:

- (a) the specific issue for which the council is offering advice;
- (b) a summary of the nature of the consultations by, and feedback from, council members on the issue;
- (c) a summary of any consultation the chair of the council, or any other council members, engaged in with the senior management team of the college on the issue;
- (d) a summary of any evidence the council relied upon in support of its advice to the college board; and
- (e) a clear statement of the position of the council, or the recommendation of the council, to the college board.

3.6.2 Advice Given at Direction of the Council

If, on its own initiative and not at the request of the college board, the council passes a motion to provide advice to the college board, the chair of the council shall provide that advice to the college board in the same manner as that prescribed in Bylaw 3.6.1.

4. Committees

4.1. General

4.1.1 Authority of Council to Establish and Empower Committees

The council may establish standing committees or ad hoc committees to which the council may delegate council powers and duties to conduct council business, but the council shall not delegate the council's authority under the *College and Institute Act* to make decisions or give advice.

4.1.2 Committees Only to Advise and Support Council

Standing or ad hoc committees may offer advice to the council to support the council's decision-making and advisory functions under the *College and Institute Act*.

4.1.3 Council to Set Terms of Reference

When establishing a standing or ad hoc committee the council shall set the terms of reference of that committee and attach the terms of reference of the committee as an appendix to these bylaws.

In setting the terms of reference for a committee the council shall use the template in Appendix 2 of these bylaws, and shall include the following terms:

- (a) the mandate and authority of the committee, with specific reference to applicable sections of the *College and Institute Act*:
- (b) the process by which the committee shall elect a chair;
- (c) the process by which the committee shall recruit members for appointment by the council;
- (d) the length of the term of service for members of the committee; and
- (e) the expectations of members of the committee, including meeting attendance and preparation for meetings.

4.2. Standing Committees

4.2.1. Standing Committees and their Functions

4.2.1.1 Educational Policies Committee

The council shall establish and maintain an Educational Policies Committee whose function shall be to consider and advise the council on:

(a) policies concerning examinations and evaluation of student performance; 18

¹⁸ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(a) decision-making authority of Education Council.

- (b) policies concerning student withdrawal from courses, programs and the college; 19
- (c) criteria for academic standing, academic standards and the grading system; ²⁰
- (d) policies and procedures for appeals by students on academic matters;²¹

and any other matters referred by the council to the committee and specified in an appendix to these bylaws.

4.2.1.2 Curriculum Committee

The council shall establish and maintain a Curriculum Committee whose function shall be to consider and advise the council on:

- (a) a proposal for a new course;22
- (b) a change to an existing course;²³
- (c) a cancellation of an existing course;²⁴
- (d) assessment of a course from another institution, university or college to determine whether the course is equivalent to a course at the college;²⁵
- (e) assessment of a course from one part of the college to determine whether the course is equivalent to a course at another part of the college;²⁶

and any other matters referred by the council to the committee and specified in an appendix to these bylaws.

4.2.1.3 Programs Committee

The council shall establish and maintain a Programs Committee whose function shall be to consider and advise the council on:

¹⁹ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(b) decision-making authority of Education Council.

²⁰ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(c) decision-making authority of Education Council.

²¹ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(e) decision-making authority of Education Council.

²² College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council.

²³ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council.

²⁴ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(e) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

²⁵ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

²⁶ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

- (a) a proposal for a new program;²⁷
- (b) a change to an existing program; 28
- (c) a cancellation of an existing program;²⁹
- (d) assessment of the curriculum of a program from another institution, university or college to determine whether the curriculum of that program is equivalent to the curriculum of a program at the college;³⁰
- (e) assessment of the curriculum of a program from one part of the college to determine whether that curriculum of that program is equivalent to the curriculum of a program at another part of the college;³¹

and any other matters referred by the council to the committee and specified in an appendix to these bylaws.

4.2.1.4 Admissions Advisory Committee

The council shall establish and maintain an Admissions Advisory Committee whose function shall be to consider and advise the council on:

- (a) any aspect of a proposal for a new program that relates to program or college admissions;³²
- (b) any aspect of a proposal for a change to an existing program that relates to program or college admissions; 33

and any other matters referred by the council to the committee and specified in an appendix to these bylaws.

²⁷ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(b) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council (IF Re: new program] OR College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council (IF re: course approval only).

²⁸ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(b) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council (IF Re: new program] OR College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council (IF re: course approval only).

²⁹ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(e) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

³⁰ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

³¹ College and Institute Act, s 25(1)(a) joint approval (with board) authority of Education Council.

³² College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(m) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

³³ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(m) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

4.2.1.5 Educational Excellence Committee

The council shall establish and maintain an Educational Excellence Committee whose function shall be to consider and advise the council on setting criteria for, or the awarding of, educational excellence awards.³⁴

4.2.1.6. Academic Appeals Tribunal

The council shall establish and maintain an Academic Appeals Tribunal whose function shall be to hear and decide appeals on academic matters arising under academic policies and procedures established by the council.³⁵

4.2.2. Process for Establishment of Standing Committees

The council shall establish all standing committees by majority vote of the council and the council may refer additional matters to a standing committee by a majority vote of the council.

4.2.3. Membership of Standing Committees

4.2.3.1 General

The chair shall annually make recommendations to the council regarding membership of standing committees.

The council shall annually appoint members of standing committees by majority vote of the council, and all standing committees shall have at least one member from the council in addition to any non-council members.

4.2.3.2 Exception – Admissions Advisory Committee

The Admissions Advisory Committee shall include the college registrar as one of its members, and the college registrar shall serve as the chair of the committee.

³⁴ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(d) decision-making authority of Education Council.

³⁵ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(e) establish a final appeal tribunal.

4.2.3.3 Exception – Academic Appeals Tribunal

The Academic Appeals tribunal shall be composed of the chair of the council, the vice-chair of the council, and one member of the council appointed by the council.

4.2.4. Rules of Order

Subject to any other provision in these bylaws, a standing committee shall determine its own rules of order, but the selection of the chair of the standing committee, and any recommendation made by a standing committee to the council, shall be supported by a majority vote of the members of the standing committee.

4.3. Ad Hoc Committees

4.3.1. Authority to Establish Ad Hoc Committees

The council may establish ad hoc committees by majority vote of the council.

4.3.2. Mandate of Ad Hoc Committees

If the council establishes an ad hoc committee it shall, by majority vote of the council, specify the name and mandate of the ad hoc committee.

4.3.3. Membership of Ad Hoc Committees

If the council establishes an ad hoc committee it shall, by majority vote of the council, appoint members to the ad hoc committee which shall include at least one member of the council and may include non-council members.

4.3.4. Rules of Order for Ad Hoc Committees

Subject to any other provision in these bylaws, an ad hoc committee shall determine its own rules of order, but the selection of the chair of the ad hoc committee, and any recommendation made by an ad hoc committee to the council, shall be supported by a majority vote of the members of the ad hoc committee.

DOUGLAS COLLEGE

Douglas College Education Council Bylaws

4.3.5. Dissolution of Ad Hoc Committees

The council may, by majority vote of the council, dissolve an ad hoc committee at any time.

5. Amendment and Review of Bylaws

5.1 Amendment of Bylaws

These bylaws may be amended at any time by a regular-cycle motion passed by a majority of the votes cast by the voting members of the council present.

5.2 Review of Bylaws

The chair shall review these bylaws at least once every five years and make recommendations to the council regarding possible amendments.

Appendix 1 – Conflict of Interest

1. Definition of Conflict of Interest

1.1 General Definition

A conflict of interest exists when a council member's self-interest conflicts with their duties and responsibilities as a council member such that they are unable to fully exercise their duties and responsibilities.

A conflict of interest may involve a self-interest that is financial or non-financial and it may involve an interest of a person to whom the council member is closely related.

A conflict of interest may be actual or potential, and it may be real or perceived. An actual conflict of interest is one that currently exists, but a potential conflict of interest may arise in the reasonably foreseeable future. A real conflict of interest is one that exists, but a perceived conflict of interest is one that is reasonably believed to exist.

Whether a conflict of interest is potential or perceived is determined from the perspective of a reasonable and informed person viewing the matter realistically and practically.

1.2 Exception - Personal Interest in Common with Many Others

It is not a conflict of interest if the self-interest of a council member is one that the council member has in common with many other people.

1.3 Exception - Personal Interest that is Remote or Insignificant

It is not a conflict of interest if the self-interest of a council member is one that is so remote or insignificant that it cannot reasonably be seen as affecting the ability of the council member to carry out their duties and responsibilities as a council member.

2. Procedure for Identifying and Addressing Conflicts of Interest

2.1 Disclosure of Own Conflict of Interest by Council Member

A council member shall disclose their conflict of interest to the chair of the council in writing in advance of a council meeting, or orally at a council meeting if the conflict of interest arises without notice.

A council member shall, whenever possible, disclose their conflict of interest in relation to an issue before the council discusses or otherwise considers that issue.

When a council member has disclosed a conflict of interest in advance of a council meeting, the chair of the council shall notify all other council members of the disclosure prior that council meeting, or if that is not practicable, prior to council consideration of the matter in which the conflict of interest has been identified.

2.2 Allegation of Conflict of Interest Regarding Another Council Member

If any council member believes that another council member has a conflict of interest, that council member shall identify that alleged conflict of interest to the other council members including the member who is the subject of the allegation.

If any person believes that a council member has a conflict of interest they shall identify that alleged conflict of interest to the chair of the council, or if their belief is that the chair of the council has a conflict of interest, they shall identify that alleged conflict of interest to the vice-chair of the council. The chair, or vice-chair, as the case may be, shall then determine whether to identify this alleged conflict of interest to other council members including the member who is the subject of the allegation.

If the council member who is alleged to be in conflict of interest accepts that they are in conflict of interest, this acceptance shall be taken as equivalent to a disclosure of own conflict of interest as outlined in 2.1.

If there is disagreement by any council member about the existence of the alleged conflict of interest, the council shall hold a vote to resolve the matter. With the council member who is alleged to be in conflict of interest refraining

from voting, the council shall determine by majority vote whether a conflict of interest exists.

If a council member is determined by majority vote to be in a conflict of interest, the council member is deemed to be in a conflict of interest.

2.3 Process Following Disclosure or Determination of Conflict of Interest

Following a disclosure of conflict of interest by a council member, or a determination of conflict of interest by a majority vote of the council, the council member who is in conflict of interest must absent themselves from the council meeting during any consideration of the matter to which the conflict of interest relates. "Consideration" includes discussion, debate and voting.

Appendix 2 – Committee Terms of Reference Template

(Example: Educational Excellence Committee)

(Please note: This is intended only as a sample and does not constitute the actual terms of reference of the Educational Excellence Committee)

1. Mandate and Authority of Committee

The Educational Excellence Committee is a standing committee of the council established by the council under Bylaw 4.1.1 of the council bylaws.

The mandate of the Educational Excellence Committee is to advise and support the council regarding the council's authority under section 24(2)(d) of the *College and Institute Act* to set criteria for awards recognizing academic excellence.

2. Responsibilities of the Committee

2.1 Review of Criteria for Academic Excellence Awards

The committee shall review criteria for academic excellence awards and make recommendations to the council for revisions to these criteria when necessary.

2.2 Managing Processes for Academic Excellence Awards

The committee shall manage the processes for academic excellence awards, including:

- (a) Circulating information about academic excellence awards in a timely manner;
- (b) Soliciting nominations for awards;
- (c) Reviewing nominations and supporting documentation as required; and
- (d) Selecting and recommending to the council candidates for academic excellence awards.

2.3 Review and Management of Academic Excellence Awards (External)

The committee shall serve, as required by agencies external to the college, as the college's nomination committee for external agencies' academic excellence awards, including:

- (a) receiving and circulating information about external academic excellence awards in a timely manner;
- (b) receiving nominations and supporting documentation for external academic excellence awards:
- (c) selecting candidates for nomination for external academic excellence awards;
- (d) submitting nominations with appropriate signatures;
- (e) publishing lists of external academic awards recipients; and
- (f) performing other tasks related to external academic excellence award distribution and recognition.

2.4 Reporting to Education Council

The committee shall report to the Council as follows:

- (a) the council member on the committee shall submit academic excellence awards recommendations of the committee to the council;
- (b) the chair of the committee shall keep minutes of committee meetings and submit them to the secretary of the council for retention; and
- (c) the chair of the committee shall provide an annual report of the committee's activities to the council.

3. Membership

There shall be five members of the committee.

The membership of the committee shall include at least one member of the council and may include non-council members.

The membership of the committee shall include:

- (a) two faculty members;
- (b) one staff member;
- (c) one administrator; and
- (d) one student.

4. Recruitment of Committee Members

Potential committee members may be recruited and recommended for appointment in accordance with the past practice for a constituency group

(faculty, administrators, staff, students) or a part of a constituency group (e.g. a specific Faculty) in relation to this committee.

Any recruitment of potential committee members shall include the chair of the education council to assist in identifying the expertise and experience that is needed for potential committee members.

Only the council shall appoint members of the committee.

5. Terms of Committee Members

Members of the committee shall have a two-year term and may be reappointed by the council to subsequent terms.

6. Selection of Chair of the Committee

The chair of the committee shall be elected annually by the members of the committee.

7. Duties of Committee Members

Committee members are expected to be prepared for all committee meetings.

Committee members shall attend all committee meetings and if any member fails to attend more than three committee meetings during their term that member may be removed from the committee by the council.

Appendix 3 – Educational Policies Committee Terms of Reference

1. Mandate of Committee

The Educational Policies Committee is a standing committee of the council established by the council under Bylaw 4.2.1.1 of the council bylaws.

The mandate of the Educational Policies Committee is to advise and support the council regarding the council's authority under section 24(2) of the *College and Institute Act* to establish and maintain academic policies for the college, and in particular:

- (a) policies concerning examinations and evaluation of student performance;³⁶
- (b) policies concerning student withdrawal from courses, programs and the college;³⁷
- (c) criteria for academic standing, academic standards and the grading system; 38 and
- (d) policies and procedures for appeals by students on academic matters.³⁹

2. Responsibilities of the Committee

a. Regular Review of Academic Policies

The committee shall establish and follow a regular cycle for the review of existing educational policies, and recommend to the council any revisions of existing policies that the committee considers advisable.

b. Referrals from Council

The committee shall consider any matter relating to educational policies that are referred to the committee by the council, and after such consideration the committee shall make recommendations to the council on the matter referred by the council.

³⁶ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(a) decision-making authority of Education Council.

³⁷ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(b) decision-making authority of Education Council.

³⁸ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(c) decision-making authority of Education Council.

³⁹ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(e) decision-making authority of Education Council.

c. Annual Report to Education Council

The chair of the committee shall provide an annual report on the committee's activities to the council.

3. Membership

There shall be nine members of the committee but the council may appoint additional members.

The voting membership of the committee shall, to the extent reasonably possible, reflect the proportion of faculty, administrators, staff and students on the council.

The membership of the committee shall include at least one member of the council and may include non-council members.

The membership of the committee shall include the following eight voting members:

- (a) four faculty members
- (b) two administrators:
- (c) one staff member; and
- (d) one student.

The membership of the committee shall also include the college registrar, or the college registrar's designate, as a non-voting member of the committee.

4. Recruitment of Committee Members

Potential committee members may be recruited and recommended for appointment in accordance with the past practice for a constituency group (faculty, administrators, staff, students) or a part of a constituency group (e.g. a specific Faculty) in relation to this committee.

Any recruitment of potential committee members shall include the chair of the education council to assist in identifying the expertise and experience that is needed for potential committee members.

Only the council shall appoint members of the committee.

5. Terms of Committee Members

Members of the committee shall have a two-year term and may be reappointed by the council to subsequent terms.

6. Selection of Chair of the Committee

The chair of the committee shall be elected annually by the members of the committee.

7. Duties of Committee Members

Committee members are expected to be prepared for all committee meetings.

Committee members shall attend all committee meetings and if any member fails to attend more than three committee meetings during their term that member may be removed from the committee by the council.

Appendix 4 – Curriculum Committee

Terms of Reference

1. Mandate of Committee

The Curriculum Committee is a standing committee of the council established by the council under Bylaw 4.2.1.2 of the council bylaws.

The mandate of the Curriculum Committee is to advise and support the council regarding the council's authority under sections 23, 24 and 25 of the *College and Institute Act* relating to college, and in particular:

- (a) a proposal for a new course;40
- (b) a change to an existing course;41 or
- (c) a cancellation of an existing course.42

2. Responsibilities of the Committee

2.1 Definition of Curriculum Proposal

A curriculum proposal may consist of any of the following:

- (a) a proposal for a new course;
- (b) a change to an existing course; or
- (c) a cancellation of an existing course.

2.2 Committee Review of Curriculum Proposals

The committee shall review all curriculum proposals before they are submitted to the council for consideration.

In its review of a curriculum proposal, the committee shall ensure:

(a) that the curriculum proposal has been properly submitted using the prescribed software used by the college for curriculum development; and

⁴⁰ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council.

⁴¹ College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council.

⁴² College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(e) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

(b) that the curriculum proposal is consistent with all applicable educational policies and appropriately aligned with the curriculum guidelines of other related courses (e.g., pre-requisites).

2.3 Committee Submission of Curriculum Proposal to Council

When the committee has completed its review of a curriculum proposal it shall submit a report to the council in which it summarizes its review of the curriculum proposals that it is recommending to the council for approval.

2.4 Monthly Meetings

The committee shall meet monthly between September and June, and may meet more frequently and at other times at its discretion.

2.5 Annual Report to Education Council

The chair of the committee shall provide an annual report on the committee's activities to the council.

3. Membership

There shall be seven members of the committee but the council may appoint additional members.

The voting membership of the committee shall, to the extent reasonably possible, reflect the proportion of faculty, administrators, staff and students on the council.

The membership of the committee shall include at least one member of the council and may include non-council members.

The membership of the committee shall include the following six voting members:

- (a) three faculty members;
- (b) one administrator;
- (c) one staff member; and
- (d) one student.

The membership of the committee shall also include the college registrar, or the college registrar's designate, as a non-voting member of the committee.

4. Recruitment of Committee Members

Potential committee members may be recruited and recommended for appointment in accordance with the past practice for a constituency group (faculty, administrators, staff, students) or a part of a constituency group (e.g. a specific Faculty) in relation to this committee.

Any recruitment of potential committee members shall include the chair of the education council to assist in identifying the expertise and experience that is needed for potential committee members.

Only the council shall appoint members of the committee.

5. Terms of Committee Members

Members of the committee shall have a two-year term and may be reappointed by the council to subsequent terms.

6. Selection of Chair of the Committee

The chair of the committee shall be elected annually by the members of the committee.

7. Duties of Committee Members

Committee members are expected to be prepared for all committee meetings.

Appendix 5 – Programs Committee

Terms of Reference

1. Mandate of Committee

The Programs Committee is a standing committee of the council established by the council under Bylaw 4.2.1.3 of the council bylaws.

The mandate of the Programs Committee is to advise and support the council regarding the council's authority under section 23(1) of the *College and Institute Act* to provide advice to the college board on qualifications for admissions policies, and in particular:

- (a) a proposal for a new program; 43
- (b) a change to an existing program; 44 or
- (c) a cancellation of an existing program.⁴⁵

2. Responsibilities of the Committee

a. Definition of Program Proposal

A program proposal may consist of any of the following:

- (a) a proposal for a new program;
- (b) a change to an existing program; or
- (c) a cancellation of an existing program.

b. Committee Review of Program Proposals

The committee shall review all program proposals before they are submitted to the council for consideration.

⁴³ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(b) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council (IF Re: new program] OR College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council (IF re: course approval only).

⁴⁴ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(b) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council (IF Re: new program] OR College and Institute Act, s 24(2)(f) decision-making authority of Education Council (IF re: course approval only).

⁴⁵ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(e) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

In its review of a program proposal, the committee shall ensure:

- (a) that the program proposal has been properly submitted using the prescribed software used by the college for curriculum development; and
- (b) that the program proposal is consistent with all applicable educational policies and appropriately aligned with related programs to support laddering and embedded credentials (e.g. minors within degree programs).

c. Committee Submission of Program Proposal to Council

When the committee has completed its review of any program proposal it shall submit a report to the council in which it summarizes its review of the program proposal that it is recommending to the council for council consideration.

d. Monthly Meetings

The committee shall meet monthly between September and June and may meet more frequently and at other times at its discretion.

e. Annual Report to Education Council

The chair of the committee shall provide an annual report on the committee's activities to the council.

3. Membership

There shall be seven members of the committee but the council may appoint additional members.

The voting membership of the committee shall, to the extent reasonably possible, reflect the proportion of faculty, administrators, staff and students on the council.

4. The membership of the committee shall include at least one member of the council **and** may include non-council members.

The membership of the committee shall include the following six voting members:

- (a) three faculty members;
- (b) one administrator;
- (c) one staff member; and
- (d) one student.

The membership of the committee shall also include the college registrar, or the college registrar's designate, as a non-voting member of the committee.

5. Recruitment of Committee Members

Potential committee members may be recruited and recommended for appointment in accordance with the past practice for a constituency group (faculty, administrators, staff, students) or a part of a constituency group (e.g. a specific Faculty) in relation to this committee.

Any recruitment of potential committee members shall include the chair of the education council to assist in identifying the expertise and experience that is needed for potential committee members.

Only the council shall appoint members of the committee.

6. Terms of Committee Members

Members of the committee shall have a two-year term and may be reappointed by the council to subsequent terms.

7. Chair of the Committee

The chair of the committee shall be elected annually by the members of the committee.

8. Duties of Committee Members

Committee members are expected to be prepared for all committee meetings.

Appendix 6 – Admissions Advisory Committee

Terms of Reference

1. Mandate of Committee

The Admissions Advisory Committee is a standing committee of the council established by the council under Bylaw 4.2.1.4 of the council bylaws.

The mandate of the Admissions Advisory Committee is to advise and support the council regarding the council's authority under section 23(1) of the *College and Institute Act* to provide advice to the college board on qualifications for admissions policies, and in particular:

- (a) any aspect of a proposal for a new program that relates to program or college admissions;46 and
- (b) any aspect of a proposal for a change to an existing program that relates to program or college admissions.47

2. Responsibilities of the Committee

2.1 Committee Review of Admissions Requirements

The committee shall review:

- (a) admissions requirements in any proposal for a new program; and
- (b) changes to admissions requirements in any proposal to change an existing program.

In its review of admissions requirements, the committee shall ensure that the admissions requirements comply with all relevant college policies.

2.2 Committee Submission to Council

When the committee has completed its review of any admissions requirement it shall submit a report to the council in which it summarizes its review of the admissions requirements that it is recommending to the council for council consideration.

⁴⁶ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(m) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

⁴⁷ College and Institute Act, s 23(1)(m) advisory (to board) authority of Education Council.

2.3 Monthly Meetings

The committee shall meet monthly between September and June and may meet more frequently and at other times at its discretion.

2.4 Annual Report to Education Council

The chair of the committee shall provide an annual report on the committee's activities to the council.

8. Membership

There shall be thirteen members of the committee but the council may appoint additional members.

The voting membership of the committee shall, to the extent reasonably possible, reflect the proportion of faculty, administrators, staff and students on the council.

The membership of the committee shall include at least one member of the council and may include non-council members.

The membership of the committee shall include the following twelve voting members:

- (a) six faculty members;
- (b) two administrators;
- (c) two staff members; and
- (d) two students.

The membership of the committee shall also include the college registrar as a non-voting member of the committee.

9. Recruitment of Committee Members

Potential committee members may be recruited and recommended for appointment in accordance with the past practice for a constituency group (faculty, administrators, staff, students) or a part of a constituency group (e.g. a specific Faculty) in relation to this committee.

Any recruitment of potential committee members shall include the chair of the education council to assist in identifying the expertise and experience that is needed for potential committee members.

Only the council shall appoint members of the committee.

10. Terms of Committee Members

Members of the committee shall have a two-year term and may be reappointed by the council to subsequent terms.

11. Chair of the Committee

The registrar shall serve as the chair of the committee.

12. Duties of Committee Members

Committee members are expected to be prepared for all committee meetings.

Appendix 7 – Educational Excellence Committee

Terms of Reference

1. Mandate and Authority of Committee

The Educational Excellence Committee is a standing committee of the council established by the council under Bylaw 4.2.1.5 of the council bylaws.

The mandate of the Educational Excellence Committee is to advise and support the council regarding the council's authority under section 24(2)(d) of the *College and Institute Act* to set criteria for awards recognizing academic excellence.

2. Responsibilities of the Committee

2.1 Review of Criteria for Academic Excellence Awards

The committee shall review criteria for academic excellence awards and make recommendations to the council for revisions to these criteria when necessary.

2.2 Managing Processes for Academic Excellence Awards

The committee shall manage the processes for academic excellence awards, including:

- (a) Circulating information about academic excellence awards in a timely manner;
- (b) Soliciting nominations for awards;
- (c) Reviewing nominations and supporting documentation as required; and
- (d) Selecting and recommending to the council candidates for academic excellence awards.

2.3 Review and Management of Academic Excellence Awards (External)

The committee shall serve, as required by agencies external to the college, as the college's nomination committee for external agencies' academic excellence awards, including:

- (a) receiving and circulating information about external academic excellence awards in a timely manner;
- (b) receiving nominations and supporting documentation for external academic excellence awards:
- (c) selecting candidates for nomination for external academic excellence awards;
- (d) submitting nominations with appropriate signatures;
- (e) publishing lists of external academic awards recipients; and
- (f) performing other tasks related to external academic excellence award distribution and recognition.

2.4 Reporting to Education Council

The committee shall report to the Council as follows:

- (a) the council member on the committee shall submit academic excellence awards recommendations of the committee to the council;
- (b) the chair of the committee shall keep minutes of committee meetings and submit them to the secretary of the council for retention; and
- (c) the chair of the committee shall provide an annual report of the committee's activities to the council.

3. Membership

There shall be six members of the committee but additional members may be appointed by the council.

The voting membership of the committee shall, to the extent reasonably possible, reflect the proportion of faculty, administrators, staff and students on the council.

The membership of the committee shall include at least one member of the council and may include non-council members.

The membership of the committee shall include:

- (a) three faculty members;
- (b) one staff member;
- (c) one administrator; and
- (d) one student.

4. Recruitment of Committee Members

Potential committee members may be recruited and recommended for appointment in accordance with the past practice for a constituency group (faculty, administrators, staff, students) or a part of a constituency group (e.g. a specific Faculty) in relation to this committee.

Any recruitment of potential committee members shall include the chair of the education council to assist in identifying the expertise and experience that is needed for potential committee members.

Only the council shall appoint members of the committee.

5. Terms of Committee Members

Members of the committee shall have a two-year term and may be reappointed by the council to subsequent terms.

6. Selection of Chair of the Committee

The chair of the committee shall be elected annually by the members of the committee.

7. Duties of Committee Members

Committee members are expected to be prepared for all committee meetings.

Appendix 8 – Academic Appeals Tribunal

Terms of Reference

1. Mandate of Committee

The Academic Appeals Tribunal is a standing committee of the council established by the council under Bylaw 4.2.1.6 of the council bylaws.

The mandate of the Academic Appeals Tribunal is to hear and decide appeals on academic matters arising under academic policies and procedures established by the council, as required by the *College and Institute Act*.⁴⁸

2. Responsibilities of Committee

2.1 Hearing and Deciding Academic Appeals

The Academic Appeals Tribunal shall hear and decide appeals on academic matters as they arise under the academic policies and procedures established by the council.

2.2 Annual Report to Education Council

The chair of the Academic Appeals Tribunal shall provide an annual report on the tribunal's activities to the council.

3. Membership

In accordance with Bylaw 4.2.3.3 of the council bylaws, there shall be three members of the Academic Appeals Tribunal, consisting of the council chair, the council vice-chair, and a third member of the council appointed by the council.

4. Recruitment of Committee Members

The council chair and vice-chair may recruit the third committee member and recommend them for appointment by the council.

Only the council shall appoint the third member of the committee.

⁴⁸ *College and Institute Act*, s 24(2)(e) authority of Education Council to establish a final appeal tribunal for appeals on academic matters.

5. Terms of Committee Members

The chair and vice-chair of the council shall serve as members of the committee during their respective tenures as chair and vice-chair.

The third member of the committee shall have a one-year term and may be reappointed by the council to subsequent terms.

6. Chair of the Committee

The chair of the council shall serve as the chair of the Academic Appeals Tribunal.

7. Duties of Committee Members

Committee members are expected to be prepared for, and participate fully in, all academic appeals that come before the Academic Appeals Tribunal.